**RECEIVED**

**Apr 27 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
H. Steven DeBerry, IV, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-000818  
Case No. 2021-CP-07-1217

---

Paul Vernon Coffman, Jr., ..... Respondent,

v.

Town of Port Royal and Kimberly Carter,..... Appellants.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

---

ANDREW F. LINDEMANN  
LINDEMANN LAW FIRM, P.A.  
5 Calendar Court, Suite 102  
Post Office Box 6923  
Columbia, South Carolina 29260  
(803) 881-8920

THOMAS A. BENDLE  
ROBERT S. DENNIS  
HOWELL, GIBSON & HUGHES, P.A.  
25 Rue Du Bois  
Post Office Box 40  
Beaufort, South Carolina 29901-0040

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in denying the Appellants' motions for directed verdict and judgment notwithstanding the verdict on both the federal and state law claims?
  - A. Did the trial court err in failing to rule as a matter of law that probable cause existed for the Respondent's arrest?
  - B. Did the trial court err in denying qualified immunity to the Appellant Kimberly Carter on the § 1983 claims?
  - C. Did the trial court err in allowing the Respondent to proceed on a "negligent arrest" theory against the Appellant Town of Port Royal?
  
- II. Did the trial court err in the award of attorney's fees and costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988 by awarding unreasonable hourly rates, by not requiring proper documentation of billable hours worked or a reduction for unsuccessful claims, by allowing duplicative or redundant time entries by multiple counsel performing the same or similar tasks, by awarding travel time at the full hourly rate, and by awarding costs in violation of United States Supreme Court precedent?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action brought by the Respondent Paul Vernon Coffman, Jr. against the Appellants Town of Port Royal and Kimberly Carter, as well as the Defendants Alan Beach, John Griffin, and Ron Wekenmann, alleging an unlawful arrest following an incident that took place at the Sands Beach Boat Landing on July 6, 2019. The Respondent was arrested pursuant to a warrant for Assault and Battery, Third Degree, following an investigation conducted by the Appellant Carter, who was employed as a detective with the Town of Port Royal Police Department. The Respondent brought federal claims pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 against the Appellant Carter and the Defendants Alan Beach, John Griffin, and Ron Wekenmann for a violation of his Fourth Amendment rights, alleging an unlawful seizure and malicious prosecution. The Respondent also brought state law claims pursuant to the South Carolina Tort Claims Act against the Appellant Town of Port Royal, including claims for malicious prosecution and negligence. (R. 63-78).

Following the completion of discovery,<sup>1</sup> the case proceeded to trial before Circuit Court Judge H. Steven DeBerry, IV and a jury from June 17-21, 2024, in the Beaufort County Court of Common Pleas. The trial court granted a directed verdict for the Defendants Beach, Griffin, and Wekenmann on the § 1983 claims. The trial court also dismissed the state law claim for false arrest. (R. 1415-1418). The Fourth Amendment claims against the Appellant Carter and the malicious prosecution and negligence claims against the Appellant Town went to the jury. The jury returned a verdict in favor of the Respondent and against the Appellant Carter on the Fourth Amendment claims and awarded actual damages of \$60,000 and punitive damages of \$40,000.

---

<sup>1</sup> The Respondent's claims against Joshua Smith as well as the loss of consortium claim brought by his wife, Stephanie Coffman, were dismissed at the summary judgment stage.

The jury also returned a verdict on the remaining state law claims against the Appellant Town and awarded actual damages of \$250,000. (R. 9-12).

The Appellants filed post-trial motions including for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (JNOV), or alternatively, a new trial absolute. (R. 544-551). The Respondent also moved for attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988. (R. 469-487). The trial court held a hearing on the post-trial motions on December 11, 2024. (R. 1946-2035).

Thereafter, on January 15, 2025, the trial court issued an Order Denying Defendants' Post-Trial Motions and an Order Awarding Fees and Costs. (R. 13-18). All parties subsequently filed motions for reconsideration. On March 24, 2025, the trial court issued an Order of Reconsideration. (R. 23-31). Thereafter, on May 14, 2025, the trial court issued an Order Reconsidering Attorney's Fees and Costs and awarded attorney's fees in the amount of \$369,713.30 and costs in the amount of \$10,057.78. (R. 32-51). On May 27, 2025, the Appellants filed a timely Rule 59(e) motion, which was denied by Order issued July 15, 2025. (R. 52-53).

The Appellants thereafter filed a timely appeal to this Court.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 6, 2019, the Respondent Paul Coffman had been boating with his wife, Stephanie Coffman, and a friend, Aaron Abercrombie. At that time, Joshua Smith had also been boating with his wife, Brittany Smith, and two of their friends, Jessica Bradley and Hunter Lewis, on their boat named “Bad Company.” (R. 65). Both Mr. Smith and the Respondent were heading back to the landing in Port Royal to pull their boats out of the river. The Respondent claimed that Mr. Smith was intoxicated, playing loud music, and performing donuts in his boat, which conduct had angered him. (R. 65, 1773-1774, 1846).

As the Respondent waited to use the boat ramp to remove his boat from the water, he approached Brittany Smith and Jessica Bradley and asked how their day had been. Mrs. Smith indicated that it was great until her husband started playing his music loudly. The Respondent replied by questioning how she could tolerate that behavior and by telling her that he was “9/10ths of the way to whupping her husband’s ass.” (R. 1811, 1842). According to Brittany Smith, the Respondent further stated, “I’m not too old to fight for an old man.” (R. 1811, 1842). Thereafter, the Respondent was observed by the two women walking to his truck in the parking lot and retrieving a fish-bat, which was described as similar to a police baton. (R. 1839-1842). He attempted to hide the fish-bat behind his leg. The Respondent’s actions were corroborated by video surveillance footage at the boat landing. (R. 1779).

On his return to the dock, the Respondent passed Mrs. Smith and Ms. Bradley. It appeared to the two women that the Respondent was concealing something behind his back. The women asked the Respondent if he had a weapon, and he pulled his shirt up and told them that he did not. (R. 1840, 1842). The women indicated that they were not referring to an object in his waistband, but whatever he was holding in his hand (the fish-bat). Ms. Bradley informed the

Respondent that Mrs. Smith was a police officer with the Beaufort County Sheriff's Department, and a verbal altercation ensued. (R. 1763). Joshua Smith, having finished with loading his boat on the trailer, noticed that words were being exchanged and profanity was being directed towards his wife. According to Mr. Smith, after he approached, he saw the Respondent holding a fish-bat up in the position to strike him. Mr. Smith grabbed the Respondent by the shoulder, took the fish-bat from him, and threw it in the river. (R. 1778, 1843).

As this was occurring, Officer Peter Bunting with the Town of Port Royal Police Department had been on patrol in the area and arrived to see the final seconds of the altercation, witnessing Mr. Smith throw an object into the water. (R. 1765). Officers from Port Royal Police Department interviewed the Respondent and Mr. Smith at the boat landing. During their respective interviews, both men denied the need for medical attention and informed the officers that they did not want to press any charges. Because of this, an incident report was prepared, and the case was closed. (R. 1765).

After returning home, the Respondent walked to a friend's home to discuss what had occurred and had a few cocktails. (R. 1811-1812). The Respondent's wife testified at trial that her husband did not go to the hospital that evening or the next day. Further, she stated that on the evening of the altercation, she did not check the Respondent's body for any injuries. (R. 1355-1357).

A few days after the incident, the Respondent began calling and visiting the Port Royal Police Department. Correspondence through emails, letters, and calls continued during the weeks after the incident with the Respondent's goal being a re-opening of the case. The Respondent and his wife submitted written statements describing their recollection of the events. (R. 1844-1847). The Respondent also contacted Brittany Smith's employer, the Beaufort County

Sheriff's Office, to report her actions. (R. 1865). The Sheriff's Office also investigated the incident as a personnel matter. (R. 1865-1876). Eventually, and after several requests from the Respondent, the case was reopened and a detective with the Town, Kimberly Carter, was assigned to investigate. Detective Carter testified that she was not involved in the initial response to the altercation at the boat landing.

During her investigation, Detective Carter interviewed all of the witnesses who were present at the scene, including Paul Coffman, Stephanie Coffman, Joshua Smith, Brittany Smith, Hunter Lewis, Jessica Bradley, and Aaron Abercrombie. She also interviewed Austin Pritcher, an officer with the Department of Natural Resources ("DNR") who was patrolling on the river. Detective Carter prepared detailed summaries of these interviews which were incorporated into her investigative file. (R. 1800-1813). The interviews of the principal witnesses were also video and audio recorded. Detective Carter also reviewed the body-worn cameras of the responding officers and reviewed the video footage captured by the Sands Boat Landing surveillance camera, interviewed a friend of the Respondent, reviewed the written file from the Port Royal Police Department, and reviewed the written statements submitted by the Respondent and his wife. Based on the totality of the evidence, Detective Carter determined that the Respondent was the primary aggressor in the altercation. (R. 1722-1723, 1728-1730).

As a result, Detective Carter prepared a warrant for the Respondent's arrest for the offense of Assault and Battery, Third Degree. She met with Municipal Judge James Grimsley on August 1, 2019, at which time the arrest warrant was issued. (R. 1832). On the following day, the Respondent was served with the warrant. He was booked into the Beaufort County Detention Center and received a bond hearing the next day. He spent one night at the Detention Center before he was released without bond. Later, the prosecutor agreed to dismiss the charges.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The standard of review for questions of law is *de novo*. The appellate court "may reverse where the decision is affected by any error of law." *Murphy v. Owens Corning*, 393 S.C. 77, 710 S.E.2d 454, 457 (Ct. App. 2011). The appellate courts are "free to decide matters of law with no particular deference to the fact finder." *Id.*

"In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried by a jury, [appellate courts] may only correct errors of law. The factual findings of the jury will not be disturbed unless no evidence reasonably supports the jury's findings." *Austin v. Stokes-Craven Holding Corp.*, 387 S.C. 22, 691 S.E.2d 135, 142 (2010).

## ARGUMENTS

### **I. The trial court erred in denying the Appellants' motions for directed verdict and judgment notwithstanding the verdict on both the federal and state law claims.**

#### **A. Evidence of Probable Cause**

In its Order Relating to Post-Trial Motions filed January 15, 2025, the trial court did not address the Appellants' JNOV argument that there was probable cause for the Respondent's arrest for Assault and Battery, Third Degree. (R. 13-18). After the Appellants filed a Rule 59(e) motion, the trial court issued an Order of Reconsideration on March 24, 2025, in which the court simply ruled that "[t]he jury found that probable cause for the arrest of Paul Coffman did not exist" and "[a]mple evidence in the record supports this conclusion." (R. 25). The trial court provided no further analysis and did not describe any of that "ample evidence." The Appellants submit that the record reflects that the Appellants were entitled to a directed verdict and JNOV on the issue of probable cause.

The Respondent was arrested for Assault and Battery, Third Degree. According to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(E)(1), "[a] person commits the offense of assault and battery in the third degree if the person unlawfully injures another person or offers or attempts to injure another person with the present ability to do so." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(E)(1). The evidence supports the elements of that offense as a matter of law.

As the South Carolina Supreme Court has explained, "the proper standard for determining probable cause is an objective standard; that is, whether the facts known to the arresting officer at the time of the arrest, viewed from the standpoint of an objectively reasonable police officer, amount to probable cause." *Mack v. Lott*, 415 S.C. 22, 780 S.E.2d 761, 761

(2015). In *Jackson v. City of Abbeville*, 366 S.C. 662, 623 S.E.2d 656 (Ct. App. 2005), this Court explained that "[p]robable cause turns not on the individual's actual guilt or innocence, but on whether facts within the officer's knowledge would lead a reasonable person to believe the individual arrested was guilty of a crime." 623 S.E.2d at 658, citing *State v. George*, 323 S.C. 496, 476 S.E.2d 903 (1996). "Probable cause is determined as of the time of the arrest, based on facts and circumstances -- objectively measured -- known to the arresting officer." *Jackson*, 623 S.E.2d at 659. Importantly, "[t]he determination of probable cause is not an academic exercise in hindsight." *Id.*

"The term 'probable cause' does not import absolute certainty." *Lapp v. South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles*, 387 S.C. 500, 692 S.E.2d 565, 568 (Ct. App. 2010). In fact, "[a] finding of probable cause may be based upon less evidence than would be necessary to support a conviction." *Id.* Thus, it is well settled that "probable cause does not turn on an individual's actual guilt or innocence." *State v. Manning*, 400 S.C. 257, 734 S.E.2d 314, 319 (Ct. App. 2012). This Court has previously explained that "[a]lthough the question of whether probable cause exists is ordinarily a jury question, it may be decided as a matter of law when the evidence yields but one conclusion." *Jackson*, 623 S.E.2d at 660.

The United States Supreme Court has similarly explained that "[t]o determine whether an officer had probable cause for an arrest, we examine the events leading up to the arrest, and then decide whether these historical facts, viewed from the standpoint of an objectively reasonable police officer, amount to probable cause." *District of Columbia v. Wesby*, 138 S.Ct. 577, 586 (2018). "Because probable cause deals with probabilities and depends on the totality of the circumstances, it is 'a fluid concept' that is not readily, or even usefully, reduced to a neat set of legal rules." *Id.* Probable cause "requires only a probability or substantial chance of criminal

activity, not an actual showing of such activity.” *Id.* Thus, the Supreme Court has described probable cause as not being “a high bar.” *Id.*

In *Baker v. McCollan*, 443 U.S. 137 (1979), the United States Supreme Court held that “[t]he Constitution does not guarantee that only the guilty will be arrested.” 443 U.S. at 145. The Supreme Court explained that law enforcement is not required “to investigate every claim of innocence” and is not required to perform “an error-free investigation” to avoid liability under Section 1983. 443 U.S. at 146.

In the case at bar, Detective Carter developed evidence during her investigation to support a finding of probable cause, and in fact, a neutral and detached judge found probable cause. Importantly, the existence of conflicting statements or evidence does not defeat probable cause. “Probable cause does not require the fine resolution of conflicting evidence that a reasonable-doubt or even a preponderance standard demands.” *Brown v. Lott*, 2022 WL 2093849, \*2 (4th Cir. 2022), *citing Gerstein v. Pugh*, 420 U.S. 103, 121 (1975). The Fourth Circuit has ruled that “probable cause does not require an officer to be certain that subsequent prosecution of the arrestee will be successful.” *Torchinsky v. Siwinski*, 942 F.2d 257, 264 (4th Cir. 1991), *citing Krause v. Bennett*, 887 F.2d 362, 371 (2d Cir. 1989). *See also, Brice v. Nkaru*, 220 F.3d 233, 239, n.5 (4th Cir. 2000) (“the police are not required to conduct a trial before making an arrest”).

As discussed above, Detective Carter performed a thorough investigation. She first spoke with Austin Pritcher, a DNR agent who pulled Joshua Smith over immediately prior to Smith using the boat ramp. Agent Pritchard stated that he did not believe Joshua Smith to be too intoxicated to drive his boat. (R. 1800). This contradicted the Respondent’s statement that Mr. Smith was grossly intoxicated during the altercation.

Next, Detective Carter interviewed Jessica Bradley who stated that the Respondent was hiding the fish-bat when he returned from his truck, and that he had made a comment to Brittany Smith about “beating someone’s ass.” (R. 1713, 1800-1801, 1839-1841). This contradicted the Respondent’s contention that he had no contact with anyone from the Smiths’ boat prior to the altercation. (R. 1846). Detective Carter also interviewed Brittany Smith who stated the Respondent said he was “9/10ths of the way from kicking her husband’s ass” and that “I’m not too old to fight for an old man.” (R. 1811, 1842). Brittany Smith also confirmed that the Respondent was attempting to hide his fish-bat on the way back from the truck. (R. 1811, 1842). This statement, as well as the fact that the fish-bat was held by the Respondent at the time of the incident, contradicts his contention that he retrieved the fish-bat for the purpose of returning it to his boat, as he had an hour to do so, but never put the fish-bat down.

In his interview with Detective Carter, the Respondent conceded that he did indeed have an interaction with the two women prior to the altercation. This was a discrepancy from his written statement. (R. 1846). He also said that he did conceal the fish-bat on his way back to the boat, which was omitted from his written statement. (R. 1846-1847). The Respondent thereafter said that Brittany Smith “looked him in the eye and said she [was] a police officer.” (R. 1808). This was inconsistent with the statements of Mrs. Smith and Ms. Bradley, who both said that Jessica Bradley made that comment. Thus, evidence emerged during Detective Carter’s investigation that the Respondent had admittedly not been candid about his lack of communications with the two women.

Additionally, in his interview, the Respondent described a brutal beating where he was thrown to the ground, hit with “long arms blows to the back of the head and back,” and received several punches to the kidneys. (R. 1808). He said that Joshua Smith “dragged him to the edge

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