IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

H. Steven DeBerry, IV, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000818  
Case No. 2021-CP-07-1217

Paul Vernon Coffman, Jr.,..... Respondent,

vs.

Town of Port Royal and Kimberly Carter, ..... Appellants.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

John S. Nichols (SC Bar #4210)  
Bluestein Thompson Sullivan, LLC  
P.O. Box 7965  
Columbia, SC 29202  
(803) 779-7599  
[John@bluesteinattorneys.com](mailto:John@bluesteinattorneys.com)

Joshua P. Golson (SC Bar # 100618)  
[josh@joshgolsonlaw.com](mailto:josh@joshgolsonlaw.com)  
Law Offices of Joshua P. Golson, LLC  
1727 Hampton St.

## COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Trial Court Correctly Deny Appellants' Motions for Directed Verdict and Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict?
- II. Did the Trial Court Abuse its Discretion in its Award of Attorneys Fees and Costs Under 42 U.S.C. § 1988?

## COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 2, 2021, Paul and Stephanie Coffman (Plaintiffs) filed an action against the Town of Port Royal, the Port Royal Police Department, Police Chief Alan Beach, Joshua Lee Smith, and several police officers including Kimberly Carter. (Complaint). Plaintiffs alleged various claims arising out of an incident that occurred on July 6, 2019, between Mr. Coffman and Mr. Smith that resulted in Mr. Coffman's arrest and incarceration for assault and battery, third degree. Mr. Coffman asserted claims for damages under several theories, including state law claims for negligence, gross negligence, malicious prosecution, false arrest, false imprisonment, and federal claims for violation of Mr. Coffman's Fourth and Fourteenth Amendment rights (42 U.S.C. § 1983). Mr. Coffman also asserted a common law battery claim against Mr. Smith. Ms. Coffman stated a claim for loss of consortium. (Complaint).

Mr. Smith filed an Answer and Counterclaim. However, on October 20, 2023, Plaintiffs and Mr. Smith entered a stipulation of dismissal with prejudice as to all claims among them. (Stipulation of Dismissal filed 10/20/23).<sup>1</sup> The court ultimately dismissed Mr. Coffman's state law claims for false arrest and Ms. Coffman's claim for loss of consortium. Detective Carter sought dismissal of

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellants erroneously state Mr. Coffman's claims against Mr. Smith were dismissed "at the summary judgment stage." (Appellants' Brief p. 2, note 1). However, Mr. Coffman and Mr. Smith dismissed claims against each other by stipulation pursuant to Rule 41, SCRPC. (Stipulation of Dismissal filed 10/20/23).

the case against her under qualified immunity but the court denied that motion. The court also denied Defendants' motions for summary judgment.

Following discovery and various motions the case proceeded to trial before a jury on June 17, 2024. The trial court directed a verdict for Defendants Beach, Griffin, and Wenkemann. (Tr. p. 524, l. 19 - p. 526, l. 2; p. 534, l. 17 - p. 535, l. 12). The court permitted the case to proceed to trial against Detective Carter and the Town of Port Royal. (Tr. p. 526, l. 2 - p. 527, l. 1).

The jury rendered a verdict for Mr. Coffman against Detective Carter for \$60,000 actual damages and punitive damages of \$40,000.00, and \$250,000.00 against the Town of Port Royal. (Verdict Form). Appellants filed motions for a new trial absolute, new trial nisi remittitur, new trial under the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine, and JNOV. On January 15, 2025, the trial court entered an order denying all of the motions. (Order of 1/15/25 Denying Motions). Appellants sought reconsideration of these rulings.

Mr. Coffman filed a motion for fees and costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988. He submitted documentation including time sheets and affidavits in support of a claim for fees totaling \$410,792.50. (Motion of 7/1/24 with exhibits; Order of 5/14/25, p. 4). On January 15, 2025, the court entered an order awarding Mr. Coffman his costs (\$14,351.72) and an attorney fee of one-third on the \$100,000 verdict against Detective Carter (\$33,333.33). (Order of 1/15/25 granting costs and fees). Mr. Coffman sought reconsideration of the fee award. (Motion of 1/27/25 with exhibits).

On March 24, 2025, the court entered an order denying Appellants' motion for reconsideration. However, the court determined its fee award to Mr. Coffman was grossly inadequate in light of the submissions and the controlling law. The court ruled it would issue a separate order regarding the fees. (Order of 3/24/25).

On May 14, 2025, the court entered an order modifying the award of attorneys fees to Mr. Coffman. Based upon a thorough analysis of the submissions and applicable law the court entered an order awarding \$369,713.30 in fees. (Order of 5/14/25, p. 19). Mr. Coffman agreed to waive certain costs so the court amended the cost award to \$10,057.78. (Order of 5/14/25, p. 19). On July 15, 2025, the court denied a motion for reconsideration filed by Appellants.

On July 18, 2025, Appellants filed and served an amended Notice of Appeal from all of the circuit court's post-verdict orders.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

**(1) The trial court's denial of Appellants' motions for directed verdict and judgment notwithstanding the verdict on the federal and state law claims**

When reviewing the trial court's ruling on a motion for a directed verdict or a JNOV, the appellate court must apply the same standard as the trial court by viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *RFT Mgmt. Co. v. Tinsley & Adams L.L.P.*, 399 S.C. 322, 732 S.E.2d 166 (2012); *Carolina Real Est. Holdings, LLC v. Brilin Elec., LLC*, 446 S.C. 376, 919 S.E.2d 918 (Ct. App. 2025). The trial court must deny a motion for a directed verdict or JNOV if the evidence yields more than one reasonable inference or its inference is in doubt. *Carolina Real Est. Holdings*. Moreover, "[a] motion for JNOV may be granted only if no reasonable jury could have reached the challenged verdict." *RFT Mgmt. Co.*, at 332, 732 S.E.2d at 171. "An appellate court will reverse the trial court's ruling only if no evidence supports the ruling below. In deciding such motions, neither the trial court nor the appellate court has the authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or the evidence." *Id.*

## **(2) The award of attorney's fees and costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 1988**

“The decision to award or deny attorney[’s] fees and costs will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.” *Carolina Real Est. Holdings, LLC v. Brilin Elec., LLC*, 446 S.C. 376, 385, 919 S.E.2d 918, 922–23 (Ct. App. 2025), citing *Maybank v. BB&T Corp.*, 416 S.C. 541, 579–80, 787 S.E.2d 498, 518 (2016).

### **FACTS**

Appellants present the “facts” of the case as if the jury did not find against them. (App. Br. pp. 4-6). Mr. Coffman provides a summary of the evidence in a light most favorable to him.

#### **Plaintiff Paul Coffman**

On July 6, 2019, Mr. Coffman took his wife and some friends and his dog on a boat ride on his 17-foot skiff. (Tr. p. 74, l. 19 - p. 76, l. 2). They stayed away from the “sandbar” because it is a place where people drink and party. (Tr. p. 76, ll. 18-24).

As they returned to the dock, a much larger boat called “Bad Company” being driven by Josh Smith overtook them at a high speed. (Tr. p. 76, l. 25 - p. 77, l. 8; p. 78, ll. 2-8; p. 79, ll. 13-20). The Bad Company had been doing “donuts” in the water, throwing up a large wake that rocked Mr. Coffman’s boat. (Tr. p. 77, ll. 8-10; p. 111, l. 11 - p. 112, l. 22). A DNR officer stopped Mr. Smith’s boat about its running lights being off. (Tr. p. 113, l. 2 - p. 114, l. 19).

Mr. Coffman tied his boat off at the dock to wait for Mr. Smith to get his boat out of the water. (Tr. p. 78, ll. 9-13). After about 15 minutes Mr. Coffman decided it was not safe so he moved his boat back towards the landing parallel to the dock. (Tr. p. 78, ll. 15-25). Everyone on Mr. Coffman’s boat decided to climb onto the dock because of how badly the wake from the Bad

Company was rocking the skiff. (Tr. p. 79, ll. 3-12).

Mr. Coffman took his dog up to the parking lot and placed the dog in his truck. (Tr. p. 79, l. 21 - p.; 80, l. 18; p. 157, l. 23 - p. 158, l. 2). As he was walking to the truck he encountered two women, one of whom was married to Mr. Smith. (Tr. p. 81, ll. 5-13). Mr. Coffman said hello and that he hoped they had a good time on the water. (Tr. p. 81, ll. 15-18). Ms. Smith indicated "it was a rough day out there on the party bar." (Tr. p. 116, ll. 12-16). Mr. Coffman denied he threatened to beat Mr. Smith or asked how Ms. Smith "would want to be with someone like that." (Tr. p. 116, ll. 3-24).

When he got to his truck Mr. Coffman retrieved a tool he uses to help him get his boat on the trailer. (Tr. p. 80, ll. 18-23; p. 81, l. 19 - p. 83, l. 15; p. 118, ll. 2-19; p. 121, l. 14 - p. 122, l. 10; p. 122, l. 16 - p. 123, l. 21; p. 158, ll. 3-6). He nicknamed the tool a "fish bat" but it was a four-inch wide flat bladed putty knife.<sup>2</sup> (Tr. p. 80, l. 23 - p. 81, l. 1). Since the trailer was already hitched to the truck Mr. Coffman was returning the "fish bat" to the boat where he kept it. (Tr. p. 123, l. 22 - p. 124, l. 15). Mr. Coffman went back to the area on the dock where Ms. Coffman and their friend, Aaron Abercrombie, were standing. (Tr. p. 83, l. 16 - p. 84, l. 1).

The Coffman party had been waiting about 45 minutes for Mr. Smith to pull his boat out of the river. (Tr. p. 84, ll. 17-21). They were approached by Ms. Smith and her friend, Jessica Bradley, who stepped in front of Mr. Coffman and accused Mr. Coffman of carrying a gun. (Tr. p. 84, ll. 2-12; p. 85, ll. 8-16; p. 129, l. 8 - p. 130, l. 4). Mr. Coffman then pulled his shirt up to reveal a battery-

---

<sup>2</sup> Although the tool was a flat putty knife with a handle, all witnesses continued to call it a "fish bat," and Ms. Smith even described it as a "bat." Respondent therefore keeps the description "fish bat" in this brief but places quotation marks since the tool was not, in fact, a real fish bat – it was a putty knife with a flat blade and a handle.

powered radio he had clipped to his belt. (Tr. p. 85, ll. 17-22; p. 164, ll. 7-14). Ms. Bradley told him to watch his language because Ms. Smith was a police officer. (Tr. p. 85, ll. 22-25; p. 129, ll. 2-7). Ms. Smith told Mr. Coffman that she was a deputy sheriff who worked with the School District. (Tr. p. 85, l. 25 - p. 86, l. 4). Mr. Coffman offered to let her search his truck if she was still concerned he had a gun. (Tr. p. 86, ll. 4-8).

Mr. Smith then approached Mr. Coffman, who was standing on the dock. (Tr. p. 85, l. 23 - p. 87, l. 4; p. 130, ll. 17-23). Mr. Smith threatened to beat and kill Mr. Coffman. (Tr. p. 87, ll. 6-9). Mr. Coffman put his hands up and Mr. Smith grabbed the "fish bat" and threw it in the water. (Tr. p. 85, ll. 9-12; p. 131, ll. 6-25; p. 132, ll. 10-19; p. 158, ll. 7-9). Mr. Smith then attacked and severely beat Mr. Coffman, causing numerous bruises on Mr. Coffman's arms, shoulder, abdomen, and chest. (Tr. p. 87, ll. 12-17; p. 88, ll. 2-20; p. 130, ll. 20-23).

Mr. Abercrombie called 911 for the police. (Tr. p. 88, l. 21 - p. 89, l. 5; p. 161, l. 24 - p. 162, l. 1). As the police arrived Mr. Smith stopped beating Mr. Coffman but said "I'll be back to finish the job" as he walked off. (Tr. p. 89, ll. 8-13). Mr. Coffman spoke with Officer Bunting and responded initially that he did not want to press charges against Mr. Smith. (Tr. p. 89, l. 20 - p. 90, l. 20; p. 134, ll. 9-16). No one was arrested at the scene. (Tr. p. 90, ll. 21-23).

Mr. Coffman left the dock with his boat and went home. (Tr. p. 91, ll. 4-6). A neighbor, Vaughn Cowan, contacted Mr. Coffman, said he was a friend of Mr. Smith, and asked Mr. Coffman to come speak, which he did. (Tr. p. 91, ll. 7-17; p. 135, ll. 10-22). Mr. Cowan later called Mr. Coffman and tried to get Mr. Coffman and Mr. Smith together to "let bygones be bygones." (Tr. p. 136, l. 4 - p. 137, l. 8).

A few days later Mr. Coffman went to the Port Royal Police Department to get a copy of the

incident report. (Tr. p. 91, l. 18 - p. 92, l. 2). Mr. Coffman saw the partial report was not correct, so he returned a few days later to get the complete report, which still contained inconsistencies. (Tr. p. 92, ll. 11-24). On one page it named Mr. Coffman as a victim and Mr. Smith as the subject, but on the next page it listed Mr. Smith as the victim and Mr. Coffman as the subject. (Tr. p. 92, l. 25 - p. 93, l. 11). Mr. Coffman contacted the Port Royal police to clarify the errors and Captain Griffith told Mr. Coffman to put his statement in writing, which he did. (Tr. p. 93, ll. 15-22; p. 102, ll. 11-17). No charges were brought against anyone at that time. (Tr. p. 94, ll. 1-3). Captain Griffith explained the investigation was closed because both Mr. Coffman and Mr. Smith had decided not to seek charges against one another. (Tr. p. 146, ll. 3-22).

Mr. Coffman ultimately made a complaint with the Sheriff's Department against Ms. Smith. (Tr. p. 144, ll. 20-24). He met with someone at the Port Royal Police Department a few days later and was told there was no probable cause to arrest anyone. (Tr. p. 94, ll. 10-13). He was told to submit FOIA requests to obtain all information related to the attack at the boat dock, which he did. (Tr. p. 94, ll. 15-24; p. 95, ll. 2-6).

Mr. Coffman spoke with Beaufort Sheriff's Office Captain Mattox, who listened rather than questioned Mr. Coffman. (Tr. p. 95, l. 7 - p. 96, l. 2). Captain Mattox "talked about what the consequences could be for one of his officers, that was put on restriction..." (Tr. p. 96, ll. 5-7). Captain Mattox said "[I]eave the report with me, and I'll look into it and get back with you..." (Tr. p. 96, ll. 9-12). This resulted in an investigation into Ms. Smith. (Tr. p. 96, l. 13 - p. 97, l. 1). Mr. Coffman later spoke with someone from the Beaufort County Sheriff's Office Internal Affairs and also contacted then-Representative Shannon Erickson about the situation. (Tr. p. 102, ll. 18-25; p. 146, l. 23 - p. 147, l. 2).

At some point Investigator Detective Carter contacted Mr. Coffman and asked him to meet with her to go over additional information. (Tr. p. 103, ll. 1-13). Detective Carter had spoken with Vaughn Cowan and “began to develop some more thoughts that could involve you more.” (Tr. p. 103, ll. 15-24; p. 147, ll. 7-10). Mr. Coffman appeared and gave a statement. (Tr. p. 104, ll. 2-6; Exh. 9). Detective Carter also interviewed Ms. Coffman, Mr. Abercrombie, and Mr. Cowan. (Tr. p. 147, ll. 14-23).

A few days later Detective Carter contacted Mr. Coffman and informed him that he was being charged with assault and battery, third degree, because she determined that he was the primary aggressor. (Tr. p. 104, ll. 7-11; p. 148, ll. 3-13). She told him he could wait for officers to pick him up or he could come in and have the warrant served on him. (Tr. p. 104, ll. 12-24; p. 148, ll. 14-19; p. 149, ll. 16-25).

Mr. Coffman called attorney Gill Bell, who made arrangements with Detective Carter to meet at the Police Department the following day. (Tr. p. 105, ll. 2, 8-13; p. 150, ll. 1-4; p. 150, ll. 9-12). Mr. Coffman was served with the arrest warrant and was immediately taken into custody, handcuffed, leg-ironed, placed in Officer Dowling’s vehicle and taken to jail. (Tr. p. 105, l. 13 - p. 106, l. 5; p. 149, ll. 3-12; p. 151, ll. 17-23). At the jail, Mr. Coffman was checked in, stripped down, put in jail clothing, fingerprinted and received a mugshot. (Tr. p. 106, ll. 6-18). Mr. Coffman was placed in a line and put into a jail cell with several other people. (Tr. p. 106, ll. 2-21). The cell was filthy and with human feces on the floor. (Tr. p. 106, ll. 21-25). Mr. Coffman asked an officer about it, and was then required to clean it up. (Tr. p. 106, l. 25 - p. 107, l. 2). Mr. Coffman was told he would be in jail two hours, but he was not released until the following day after a bond hearing. (Tr. p. 107, ll. 3 - 22; p. 152, l. 24 - p. 153, l. 4).

For months following the arrest people in the community would tell him they saw his mugshot and knew he had been arrested. (Tr. p. 107, l. 23 - p. 108, l. 19). Mr. Coffman described it as “terrible.” (Tr. p. 108, l. 19). The charge was ultimately dismissed on March 13, 2020. (Tr. p. 108, l. 20 - p. 110, l. 6; p. 153, l. 12-14; Exh. 23). The charge was also expunged. (Tr. p. 110, ll. 7-13). However, the information is still available on the Internet. (Tr. p. 110, ll. 13-18).

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